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[PUBLISH]

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

No. 1411137

D.C.Docket N0.3:13-cr-0004 #MMH-JBT-1

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

versus

MELVIN HUBERT HOLMES,

DefendantAppellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Middle District of Florida

(February 25, 2016

Before MARTIN and ROSENBAUM, Circuit Judges, and PROCT@Rstrict
Judge.

" Honorable R. David Proctor, United States District Judge for the NortherrcDistri
Alabama, sitting by designation.
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PROCTOR, District Judge:

Melvin Hubert Holmesppealdis convictions and sentences for one count
of production or attempted production of child pornography in violation of 18
U.S.C.§82251(a) and one count of possession of child pornography in violation of
18 U.S.C8 2252(a)(4)(B).Holmes was charged with surreptitiously videotaping
his teenagestepdaughter performing her daily bathromutine overa period of
approximately five month@nd being in possession of videos and depictions of her
in the nude.The jury returned guilty verdictas b both counts The District
Court sentenced Holmes to 180 months in prison on the prodactibattempted
production count (Count One), and 120 months in prison on the possession count
(Count Two) with those sentencés be served concurrently. In this appeal,
Holmesarguegas he did bef@ the District Coujtthat the subjectimages do not
constitute child pornography because they do not depict a minor engaged in
“sexually explicit conduct” as defined by 18 U.S82256(2)(A). After careful
review, and with the benefit of oral argumeng disagree Accordingly, we
affirm the decision of the District Court and hold tajpictions obtherwise
innocent conduct by a mincan constitutedlascivious exhibitiorof the genitals

or pubic area” based on the actions of the individual creating the depiction.
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l.

A grand jury indicted Holmes for one count of production of child
pornography, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2241(a) and (e) (“Count One”); and one
count of possession of child pornography, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
2252(a)(4)(B) and (b)(2) (“Count Two”). Count One alleged that Holmes
knowingly employed, used, persuaded, induced, enticed, and coerced a minor to
engage in sexually explicit conduaotrthe purpose of producirayvisual depiction
of such conduct That count also allegeth attempt chargei.e., that Holmes
attempted to employ, ugeersuade, induce, entice, and coereeinor for that
same purpose. Count Two charged that Holmes possessed child pornography.

At trial, the government called Yolanda Holmes (“Yolanda”), Holmes’
wife. Yolandatestified that she lived with heminor daughter Q.H.,at ahome
they shared with Holmest the time the recordings at issue in this case were.made
Holmes and Yolanda had been married for eight yéais. is Holmes's
stepdaughter

OnAugust 23, 2012, Yolanda was at home cleaning hatide he
daughter was at school. Holmes was running anceemath not home at the time
While Yolanda was cleaning her daughter’s bathroom, she discovered clay or putty

stuck to the underside of the vanity, and noticed tape on a plaque dotve a
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length mirror on the walbppositethe vanity. Sensing something was amiss, she
decided to check Holmes’s computer.

When Yolanda opened Holmes&ptop, she was able to access his
electronic files. She looked at files that had beesentlyviewed thosefiles
appeared to be wotlelated based on their titleslowever, wheryolanda clicked
on one of the files, she saw an image of her daughter naked in the bathroom.
Yolanda clickedon another recentlyiewed file, and saw a cropped image of one
of her daghter'snakedbody parts. She then clicked on a video file, and she saw a
video of her daughter in the bathroom undressing and going through her morning
routine to get ready for school. At that point, Yolanda stopped. She testified she
could not believavhat she was seeing, and decided to record the names of the files
on the computer for future referencitter doing so, she closddiolmes’s
computer.

Holmes returned home later that day, but Yolatidanotmentionherrecent
discovery. Yolanda arranged for her daughter to spend the night at a friend’s
house, anafter Holmesleft for work, Yolandacalled the police andotified them
that she had found images of In@keddaughter on her husband’s computer. She

requested that the police comdlie house to view thenages

! Holmess laptop was normally password protected, but on this particular day Yolanda
gained access without entering a password.
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Oncethe police arrived, Yolanda showed them the bathroom #ea.
number of law enforcement agents testifedrial regarding whatheydiscovered
in connection with their inspectiaf the Holmes'’s residenceFor examplethe
policediscovered @eas in thebathroomwhereholes had beerrilled. They also
found a doll that sat on the windowsill of the bathroom. There was duct tape under
the doll's dress and two holes had been cut into the front affallie dress.

The Government called Special Agent Scot Huntsberry, an agent with the
Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBl&hdan expert in computer forensic®n
the night of the search, Yolanda agreed to turn her husband’s computer over to the

police. At trial, Ydanda identified a number of discs containing photographs or

% For example,lte Government called Detective Ryan Ellis, who testified that he
responded t&olanda’s calland spoke witlher. Upon entering the daughter’s bathroom, he
observed that a hole had been drilled through the trim work underneath themraarigythe sink
met the wall at approximately waist height. The hole appeared to have beedquétor
covered up.

The Government also called Erin Thompson, a crime scene technician with the Clay
County Sheriff’'s Office, who testified that she wemthie Holmes'’s residence to collect
evidence. The Government asked Thompson to identify Government’s Exhibits 13, 14, 15, 16,
and 17, which she described as photographs that showed the front side of the sink area in the
daughter’s bathroom where it appeared that some holes had been plastered overeahd stai
Thompson also identified Government Exhibits 18, 19, 20, and 21, which showed other areas of
the daughter’s bathroom where Yolanda believed that she had found plaster or hblad tha
been paintedwer. Neither Yolanda nor law enforcement ever recovered a camera from the
Holmes’s residence.

The Governmeralsocalled Detective Johnny Hawkins, who testified that responsibility
for the Holmes case was transferred to him from Detective Histesified thatYolanda had
expressed concern about the possibility of other recording equipment in the house. When
Detective Hawkins went to search the house again on August 31, 2012, he recovered more tape
from below the sink area in the daughter’s bathroom.
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videos of her daughterakedin the bathroom. The images and photographs that
wereon discgdentifiedat trial were consistent with what she had viewed on her
husband’s computer on August 2812. All of the discs depicted Q. Hndthese
depictionsappeared to have besurreptitiouslycaptured in her bathroom.
Huntsberry testified that he examined the hard drive of Holmes’s computer.
During that examination, Huntsberniewedthe contents of a folder entitled
“Work” in the user directory “Big Mel.” He found a number of imaged video
files that were hiddes-i.e., they werenot discoverable by an ordinary computer
userwho operedthat folder? Included in thoséidden files were the images and
videos of Q.H. in th@ude while in hebathroom.

Based upotithis and otheevidenceadducedht trial, a reasonablgiry could
conclude thabeginning on March 10, 2@1(when Q.H. was fifteen years ¢ldnd
ending on August 17, 20 #%/hen Q.H. was sixteeyears old Holmes hid video
cameras in Q.H.’s bathroom in ordercapture her daily routine without her

knowledge.She was videoed as she sang, danced, stood in front of the mirror,

% Government Exhibits 52 through 60 were discs that contained hidden video or image
files takenfrom the hard drive of Holmes’s laptop. On cr@essmination, Special Agent
Huntsberry testified that it appeared an individual with access to the comjautieto some
lengths to hide these images and videos from other whkersnight accesthe computer. Other
than the subject video and images, he did not find any other child pornography on the hard drive
or anywhere else on the computer. Nor did he dimg evidence to suggest that the images or
videos had been distributed or e-mailed to other computers. He did not find any file-sharing
software on the computer, althougich programare common in child pornography
investigations.
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applied creams or lotions to her body, groomed, and performed other bathroom
routines. A total of wentythree videoslepictingQ.H. wererecovered Fifteen of
those videos were recorded with a camera hidden somewhere in the bathroom
above countertop levelThose fifteervideos which depiced Q.H. generally nude
from the waist upwerediscussed at triabut notintroduced.

Eight videod were recorded with a video camera hidden undefiphof the
vanity countertop.In those eight videos, Q.H. is seen completely naked, fully or
partially clothed, or wearing a towel or her underwear. From time toh@meude
pubic area iplainly visiblein those videos Those eight videos were introduced at
trial.

Holmes also creatdtventy-six screen captures from cenaections of the
videos. At trial, the Governmentntroduced twof thosescreen capturegepicting
closeup views of Q.H.’s pubic area. The remaining still imagbigh Holmes

createdandwhich werenot introducedttrial) depicted Q.H.'snaked breasts.

* All of thesevideos contained cuts whetreetime stamphad been edited out of the
original recording.The videos were recorded by a camera placed ifraheof the cabinet
under the sink in Holmes’s daughter’s bathroalineCtly at the level of her pubic area) while she
was standing in front of the sink. Because there was a full-length mirror gaomgthe opposite
wall and a mirror above the sink, in addition to showing what was taking place in fitbet of
camera, the camera also recorded images that were refledtes dyposite mirroandthe
mirror above the sink.
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On September 17, 2013, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts.
Holmesrenewed a motion for judgment of acquiftakguing that the videos and
still images did not meet the statutory definition of child pornography. His motion
was denied.

With respect to theharge that hprodu@d child pornographyHolmes was
sentenced to thmandatoryminimum sentence of fifteen years’ imprisonmekhie
was sentencew ten years’ imprisonment on thkarge that hpossessdchild
pornography The District Court ordered the two sentences to run concurrently.
Holmes also received five-year term of supervised releaaespecial condition of
which required him to register with the state sex offender registration agency in
any state where hs employed, residg orworks.

Holmes timelyappealedis judgment of conviction

Il
We reviewde novo the denial of a defendastproperlypreserved motion

for judgment of acquittal. United States v. Pefestg 36 F.3d 1552, 1556 (11th

Cir. 1994)(per curian). TheDistrict Court’s denial of a motion for judgment of
acquittal will be upheld “if a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the
evidence establishes the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable ddnived

States v. Rodriguez, 218 F.3d 1243, 1244 (11th CitOR0Df course a District

® In the District Court, Holmes also moved for a new trial. That motion was a@sid.

8
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Court’s “decision on sufficiency of the evidence is entitled to no deference by this

[Clourt.” United States v. Taylp872 F.2d 1247, 1250 (11th Cir. 1992).

However,in reviewinga District Courts decisionon sufficiencyall facts and

inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the government. United States

v. Hanson, 262 F.3d 1217, 1236 (11th Cir. 20Q@#&) curiam)
1.

Federal law defines “child pornography” as “any visual depiction, including
any photograph, film, video, picture, or computer or computer generated image or
picture” where “the production of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor
engaging in sexually expgit conduct.” 18 U.S.C§ 2256(8). A defendant
commits the crime of production ohild pornographyhen he usegersuades
entices or coeresa minor to engage in “sexually explicit conduct for the purpose
of producing any visual depiction of such conduct” using materials that have
traveled in interstate commerckl. § 2251(a). Te crime of possession of child
pornography involves the knowing possession of a visual depiction that involves a
minor engaging in sexually explicit condudtl. § 2252(a)(4)(B). “Sexually
explicit conduct” is defined by the status:

(i)  sexual intercowse, including genitagenital, oralgenital, anabenital,
or oralanal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex;

(i)  bestiality:

(i)  masturbation;
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(iv) sadistic or masochistic abuse; or

(v) lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic area of anygpers
I1d. §2256(2)(A).

The questiompresentedhere is whether the statutgeiiraselascivious
exhibition of the genitals or pubic areaayinclude depictionsf the “otherwise
Innocent”’conduct ofa minorwhich are surreptitiously taken by an alleged
producerand made lasciviousasedupon the actions of the produgcant the child

We have previously defined “lascivious exhibiticas ondhat “excites

sexual desires or is salacious.” United States v. Grzybp\WdazF.3d 1296,

1305-06 (11th Cir.2014) (quotations and brackets omittqdotingUnited States

v. Williams, 444 F.3d 1286, 1299 (11th Cir. 2006), reversed on other grcdabRIs

U.S. 285, 128 S. Ct. 1830 (2008)n Grzybowicz the visual depictions were
blatantly lasciviou$ That is, hedepictions in that case salaciously esdiexual
desires, and Wwasunnecessary fahe panel tdurtheranalyzethe phrase
“lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic are&d’ at1306. As we have
acknowledgegwhat constitutes a forbidddasciviousexhibition “is not concretg
andfor this reasorit is necessary tdetermine the potentially lascivious nature

“with respect to the actual depictions themselveédilliams, 444 F.3d at 1299

® In Grzybowicz, the minor’s vagina was the focal point of all four pictatessueand
in two of them the defendant spreaad then digitally penetrated thenor'svagina. 747 F.3d
at 1305-06. Accordingly, it “would have been unreasonable and utterly contrary to the
evidence” for the jury to have found that the images were not lascividuat 1306.

10
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(“While the pictures needn’t always be ‘dirty’ oregvnude depictions to qualify,
screening materials through the eyes of a neutral factfinder limits the potential

universe of objectionable images.SgealsoUnited States v. Smifl459 F.3d

1276, 1296 n. 17 (11th Cir. 2006) (“That the photographs of the victim were found
with other sexually explicit photographs could make it more likely that their
purpose was to elicit a sexual response:igre, Holmes contendihe images
depict“mere nudity’” making himat mosta voyeur. And based upon his
contention that the imageé® not depict dlascivious exhibitiorof the genitals or
pubic ared Holmesargues he cannot be guilty mfoducing attemping to
produce, or possdasg child pornography

In support othis argument, Holmes notes that Q.H. did kiwowingly
engage in sexually explicit conduct whilkee wadeing videoed Rather, she was
secretlyrecorded while in her bathrooperforming normal, everyday activities
Holmes contends that it necessarily follows that the videos and pictures
themselves, even the ones in which Q.H.’s pubic area is fully visible, do not depict
sexually explicit conduct. We disagrel doing so, we join each of osiister
circuits who have addressedisttssueand conclude thatdepictionsof otherwise
innocent conduct may in faconstitutea “lascivious exhibitionof the genitals or

pubic area” of a mindoased on the actions of the individual creating the depiction.

11
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The Eidth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits have each confronted this same
guestion. In considering whether an image constitutéssaiviousexhibition,
thosecourts havdookedto the intent of th@roducer or editoof an image For

example, in United States v. Hod87 F.3d 781 (8th Cir. 1999he court held that

“[b]y focusing the viewer’s attention on the pubic area, fréeraing can create
an image intended to elicit a sexual response in the viewer. The ‘lascivious
exhibition’ is not the work of the child, whose innocence is not in question, but of

the producer oeditor of the video.”Id. at790, seealsoUnited States v. Johnspn

639 F.3d 433, 4411 (8th Cir. 2011) (holding that a reasonable jury cdinidl
thatvideos of minors weighing themselves in an examination room constitute
lascivious exhibitions basexh how the video was recorddww the zoom feature
was adjustedand theproducer’sntent to elicit a exual response in the viewer
even though the victims did not act in a sexual mgnner

Similarly, the Ninth and Tenth Circuiteve focusedn the intent of the
producer. Th&inth Circuit has made clear that the image at issag bea
lascivious exhibitiorbased on how the photographer arrangetsach of the
pictures featured the child photographed as a sexual object. ... [T]hat is, so
presented by the photographer as to arouse or satisfy the sexual cravings of a

voyeur.” United States v. Wiegand, 812 F.2d 1239, 1244 (9th(@mnphasis

added)cert denied 484 U.S. 856, 108 S. Ct. 164 (198The court continued,

12
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explaining, “[L]asciviousness is not a characteristic of the child photographed but
of the exhibition which thehotographer sets up for an audience that consists of
himself or likeminded pedophiles.’ld.

TheTenth Circuit haglsoreached this same conclusion. Citthg Ninth
Circuit’s decision irWiegand that court concluded that “[t]o find otherwise would
ignore the obvious exploitive nature of the depiction and require the child to
exhibit lust, wantonness, sexual coynesstbeninappropriate precocity. Suah
interpretation would pervert both the language and the logic of the legislation and

the case law."United States v. Wolf890 F.2d 241246 (10th Cir. 1989).

Today, we join the Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuasd hold thaa
lascivious exhibitiormaybe created bgnindividual who surreptitiously videos or
photographs a minor and lataptuesor edis adepiction,even wherthe original
depiction is one o&ninnocent childacting innocently Viewing the evidence in
the light most favorable to the government, a reasonable jury could have found that
Holmes’sconduct-- including placement of theaomeras in the bathroom where his
stemlaughter was most likely to be videoed wimiele, hisextensive focus on
videoingandcapturingimages oherpubic areathe angleof the cameraet up
andhis editing of the videos at issuewas sufficient to create a lascivious
exhibition of the genitals or pubic are8eel8 U.S.C8 2256(2)(A)(Vv);

Grzybowicz 747 F.3cat 130506, seealsoUnited States v. Ward, 686 F.3d 879,

13
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882-84 (8th Cir. 20912) (reasonable jury could conclude that video taken with
hidden camera depicting 42arold girl undress, step into and out of shower, and
dry off constituted a lascivious exiiion of the pubic arga

Accordingly, for all these reasonaie AFFIRM .’

" Because we hold that a reasonable jury could have found Holmes guilty of the
substantive offense of production of child pornography, we need not address the issue of whethe
his conviction on this counta besustained on an alternative attempt theory.

14



